

UCR SPP Working Paper Series

February 2022 - WP#22-01

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The Model
- 3. Application to the Dendron aquifer, South Africa
- 3.1 Data for the numerical application
- 4. Policy Interventions
- 5. Results and discussions
- 6. Conclusion and policy implications
- 7. References
- 8. Appendix

Averting land subsidence impacts through optimal groundwater management: Evidence from the Hout River Catchment in South Africa

Nelson Ndahangwapo,¹ Djiby Racine Thiam,¹ Ariel Dinar² ¹ School of Economics, University of Cape Town, South Africa ² School of Public Policy University of California, Riverside

Summary:

Fresh surface water is becoming increasingly scarce worldwide. This increased groundwater use as the most cost-effective source of water. Groundwater over-extraction, however, could result in another environmental externality in the form of land subsidence (LS). In the long run, LS may alter the geological formation of the aquifer. The loss of aquifer storage capacity owing to LS is one such negative externality that is seldom discussed. By investigating the indirect loss of the aquifer storage capacity due to LS along with the other direct LS negative externalities, we developed a dynamic economic optimization model for groundwater utilization and evaluated various policy interventions (quota and taxes). We found that taxes on land sinking and aquifer storage capacity reduction have a significant effect on withdrawals and water table levels in sediment-based aquifers compared to fractured-rock aquifers. When it comes to groundwater conservation, taxes are better than quotas.

Acknowledgements: This research was funded by the National Research Foundation (NRF) of the Republic of South Africa, under the project Investment Decisions in Water and Rural Development Programmes to Promote Food Security and Resilience of Smallholder Farmers in SA.

Averting land subsidence impacts through optimal groundwater management: Evidence from the Hout River Catchment in South Africa

Nelson Ndahangwapo ^{1,*}, Djiby Racine Thiam ², Ariel Dinar ³

^{1,2} School of Economics, University of Cape Town, South Africa
 ³ School of Public Policy, University of California, Riverside, USA

Abstract

Fresh surface water is becoming increasingly scarce worldwide. This increased groundwater use as the most cost-effective source of water. Groundwater over-extraction, however, could result in another environmental externality in the form of land subsidence (LS). In the long run, LS may alter the geological formation of the aquifer. The loss of aquifer storage capacity owing to LS is one such negative externality that is seldom discussed. By investigating the indirect loss of the aquifer storage capacity due to LS along with the other direct LS negative externalities, we developed a dynamic economic optimization model for groundwater utilization and evaluated various policy interventions (quota and taxes). We found that taxes on land sinking and aquifer storage capacity reduction have a significant effect on withdrawals and water table levels in sediment-based aquifers compared to fractured-rock aquifers. Quotas are more beneficial to farmers than taxes in terms of social welfare benefits. When it comes to groundwater conservation, taxes are better than quotas.

Acknowledgments: This research was funded by the National Research Foundation (NRF) of the Republic of South Africa, under the project Investment Decisions in Water and Rural Development Programmes to Promote Food Security and Resilience of Smallholder Farmers in SA. Djiby Racine Thiam would like to thank the National Research Foundation (NRF) of the Republic of South Africa for funding this research.

Keywords: land subsidence; groundwater over-extraction; aquifer storage capacity; taxes; quotas.

¹ Nelson Ndahangwapo is PhD-student at the University of Cape Town, South Africa, Email: <u>nelson@aims.edu.gh</u>

² Djiby Racine Thiam is Associate Professor in Economics, University of Cape Town, South Africa, Email: djiby.thiam@uct.ac.za

³ Ariel Dinar is Distinguished Professor of Environmental Economics and Policy, School of Public Policy, University of California, Riverside, USA, Email: <u>adinar@ucr.edu</u>

1. Introduction

Land subsidence (LS) is defined as "... sinking of the earth's surface arising from the subsurface movement of earth materials" (Galloway et al., 1999, p.1). Land subsidence is a global problem with economic and environmental negative effects (Herrera-Garcia et al., 2021; Kok and Costa, 2021). One major cause of LS, amongst several others, is the long-term over-extraction of groundwater (Saber et al., 2018). Previous evidence shows that land subsidence caused by groundwater withdrawal stems from the compaction of the soil particles (Galloway et al., 1998; Wade et al., 2018; Minderhoud et al., 2017). As a result, the ground particles shrink and compact to fill up the formed pores, and the ground surface sinks.

As the ground surface sinks, it poses greater damage to infrastructures, the performance of groundwater-dependent ecosystems, and the aquifer storage capacity. For instance, the formation of earth fissures, damages to buildings, failure in well casings, and damages to municipal infrastructures like drains, roads, pipelines, bridges, railways, sewers, and municipal dams are examples of such effects (Faunt et al., 2015, Galloway et al., 2016; Conway, 2015; Moteahd et al., 2019). Particularly, infrastructures such as buildings, roads, bridges, and dams start to crack which later leads to their walls and surfaces breaking apart or deforming. According to Galloway et al., (1999, p.1), more than four-fifths of the overall land subsidence in the United States has been attributed to excessive groundwater mining. Furthermore, a recent survey by the United States Geological Survey (USGS) California Water Science Center (Sneed, 2018) revealed that land subsidence stemming from groundwater over-exploitation can not be reversed in most cases. Governments spend substantial financial resources on fixing the aforementioned negative effects. Therefore, to halt land subsidence, optimal groundwater extraction paths coupled with land subsidence averting strategies should be incorporated into local water management strategies.

Three types of externalities are associated with groundwater over-extraction: (1) Congestion/water table depth externality (depth); (2) Direct Land Subsidence (LS) damage externality (infrastructure, ecosystems); and (3) Indirect loss of the aquifer storage capacity due

to LS (Dinar et al., 2020). The depth externality entails the groundwater depletion effects on pumping costs for all groundwater consumers. Over-extraction of groundwater raises the depth (or height) to the water table, causing water to be pumped to the surface from deeper levels. This necessitates the use of additional energy, making future extractions more expensive. The direct land subsidence externality entails impacts, such as infrastructure and ecosystem damages. As previously stated, infrastructures suffer damage (i.e., cracking and deforming) as the soil surface on which they are sitting sinks. Furthermore, groundwater over-extraction results in water scarcity and quality deterioration, which has an impact on aquatic ecosystems that rely on aquifers for survival. Groundwater over-extraction and land subsidence also impair or affect the ecological processes and state of groundwater-dependent ecosystems. The indirect loss of storage due to LS entails the opportunity cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity over time. There is a state of compaction in which the pore spaces filled by the sinking soil are lost forever. Even if the aquifer is recharged, it will not be capable of holding the same amount of water as before. Many previous studies have examined the depth externality (Gisser and Sanchez, 1980; Brill and Burness, 1994; Guilfoos et al., 2013; de Frutos Cachorro et al., 2014; Tomini, 2014; Allen and Gisser, 1984). Several other papers looked at ecosystem damages as an externality from groundwater extraction, not considering land subsidence (Esteban and Albiac, 2011; Roumasset and Wada, 2013; Esteban and Dinar, 2016). Dinar et al. (2021) provided a list of additional environmental damages that have been pointed at in previous literature. Previous research, not necessarily economics, focused only on three aspects of LS, namely LS prediction (Wade, 2016; Mahmoudpour et al., 2016; Shen and Xu, 2011; Wang et al., 2019), LS monitoring (Saber et al., 2018; Minderhoud et al., 2017; Galloway et al., 1998; Ljungdahl, 2015; Cao et al., 2020; Wright et al., 2004; Khorrami et al., 2019), and evaluating and quantifying the direct LS economic damages (Wade et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2013; Yoo and Perrings, 2017).

The literature about the economic analyses of LS and its management is scant. Only a few studies have economically assessed LS impacts (Warren et al., 1975; Lixin et al., 2010; Yoo and Perrings, 2017; Wade et al., 2018; Borchers and Carpenter, 2014). It is therefore important to initiate further research activities that shed more light on such economic implications to address the vast

gap that currently exists in the literature. This paper contributes to such a body of literature. We build on Dinar et al (2020) that examined the direct LS externality together with the indirect loss of storage externality due to LS. Our contribution lies in our clear inclusion of the groundwater drawdown patterns, instead of previous studies that rather considered groundwater extraction patterns (Dinar et al., 2020). This is important, given the difference that often occurs between groundwater extraction and drawdown patterns. We use a subsidence function to determine the subsidence rate, using groundwater drawdown. Furthermore, we assume that the water extractor (i.e. farmer) is penalized for actions leading to the aquifer's storage capacity reduction, which is her water withdrawals. This was done by charging the extractor with a fixed (Pigouvian) tax per every m of inelastic compaction. We follow Leake and Galloway, (2007, p.2) and define compaction as a reduction in the thickness of sediments due to an increase in vertical compressive stress. The vertical compressive stress within the sediments is increased as groundwater is extracted from aquifers, resulting in compaction. When inelastic compaction occurs, pore space is permanently lost and cannot be restored. This means that the aquifer's storage capacity is lost forever. Therefore, the larger the inelastic compaction, the larger the loss to aquifer storage capacity.

In order to investigate the direct LS negative externality, we design a direct-damage function that is dependent on the rate of subsidence caused by groundwater drawdown. This allows groundwater extractors to be held accountable for all direct LS negative repercussions caused by groundwater abstraction from the aquifer. For the indirect LS negative externality, we create an indirect-damage function that is dependent on the degree of inelastic compaction caused by groundwater extractors to be held accountable for all direct LS negative externality, we create an indirect-damage function that is dependent on the degree of inelastic compaction caused by groundwater extraction from the aquifer. Likewise, this allows groundwater extractors to be held accountable for all groundwater withdrawals that lead to the reduction in the aquifer's storage capacity. Therefore, we evaluate the various trajectory changes in the water table elevation and farmers' groundwater withdrawals as a result of the imposed damage functions, and hence incorporate policy interventions to regulate such externalities. Taxes and quotas on pumping are investigated as policy interventions. The effects of pumping taxes and quotas on social welfare are discussed and compared using the net present value framework.

This paper is organized as follows: Section 2 describes the dynamic optimization model we developed for the LS-considered groundwater management. We present several propositions that provide a general solution of the model (Their proof appears in the Appendix). In Section 3, we apply the model empirically to the Dendron aquifer in South Africa and describe the data-collection process. Then in Section 4, we describe the policy interventions used to regulate the pumping from the aquifer. In Section 5, we provide and discuss the results of the empirical application. Finally, in Section 5, we conclude and discuss policy implications.

2. The model

Our point of departure is a farmer who owns a water pump in a certain agricultural area (AA) overlaying a certain groundwater aquifer. We assume, for simplicity and without loss of generality, that groundwater is the only source of water available for irrigation.⁴ Assuming that there is a regulator in charge of the aquifer, this farmer is subject to charges put forward to avert all the negative externalities stemming from groundwater depletion. Such penalties (e.g., monetary charges per meter of compaction) reduce extractions as the farmer wouldn't want to be charged more than her marginal benefit from the water extracted. Following Gisser and Sanchez (1980), the demand for irrigation water pumped by this farmer is given by Equation (1) below

$$W(t) = g + kP, \ g > 0, k < 0, \tag{1}$$

where W(t) is the groundwater extraction rate at each point in time t, g and k are parameters of the water demand function, and P represents the price of irrigation water. The inverse demand function for Equation (1) is given by Equation (2) below (removing the operator t for convenience)

$$P = \frac{W}{k} - \frac{g}{k}.$$
 (2)

The pump owner's total revenue is given by Equation (3) below

⁴ Urban sector extractions lead to similar LS results but are not modelled here to keep the setup simple.

$$\int_{W} P(W)dW = \frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k}.$$
(3)

Following Gisser and Sanchez (1980) and Esteban and Albiac (2011), we denote the extraction costs by the following cost function given in Equation (4) below

$$\tilde{P} = C_0' + C_1'(S_l - H)$$
(4)

where $(S_l - H)$ is the height to the water table, with S_l and H representing the irrigated field surface elevation and the water table elevation levels, respectively. The parameters C'_0 and C'_1 represent the fixed costs and the marginal extraction cost, respectively. Reformulating Equation (4), we obtain a revised cost function equation $\overline{P} = C_0 + C_1 H$, where C_0 and C_1 are the intercept and the water table coefficient respectively, defined as $C_1 = -C'_1$ and $C_0 = C'_0 + C'_1 S_l$. Therefore, the pump owner's overall benefit is given by the difference between total revenue and total extraction costs as defined by the expression below

$$\frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k} - (C_0 + C_1 H)W.$$
 (5)

Taking into consideration *the direct LS externality*, we define the rate (in meters) at which the land is sinking due to groundwater pumping as suggested by Wade et al (2018)

$$Sink(D(W)) = \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W)$$
(6)

where W, η , b, ψ , ε , and D(W) represent the total groundwater extractions in cubic meters (m^3) , the density of water in Kg/m^3 , the aquifer's thickness in meters (m), the confining material compressibility in ms^2/kg , the acceleration due to gravity in m/s^2 , and the drawdown due to pumping in m, respectively. As a result, the social cost arising from the direct LS negative externality is given by $\beta Sink(W)$, where β represents the monetary cost of this negative externality (\$/m) of sinking). Dinar et al., (2020) substituted W for D(W) in Equation (6), which could be problematic, as groundwater extraction might be different from groundwater drawdown. This paper aims to address this problem and also introduce a more accurate method of measuring the loss of the storage capacity externality due to LS. Pumping externalities associated with groundwater resources, according to various studies, are spatially and temporally variable (Wade et al., 2018; Merrill and Guilfoos, 2017). For simplicity and without loss of generality, we assume a single-cell aquifer with a non-heterogeneous distribution of impacts and wells, and that the direct LS externality is evenly distributed throughout the aquifer and all pumping wells. The only action of the pumper that affects the change in the water table is

withdrawal (W), as the natural recharge and percolation are not determined by the pumper but by some natural phenomenons, D(W) is given by the drawdown formula (Thiem Equation) in Equation (7) below

$$D(W) = \frac{W}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$$
(7)

where T, r_w , and r_i represent the aquifer's transmissivity in $m^2/year$, the radial distance from the pumping well⁵ in m, and the radius of influence⁶ in m, respectively. The foremost common way of finding the radius of influence is by using empirical formulas. Hence, r_i is given by Lembke's (1887) formula in Equation (8) below

$$r_i = b \sqrt{\frac{v}{2Z}} \tag{8}$$

where v and Z represent the aquifer's hydraulic conductivity in m/year, and the groundwater recharge rate ($m^3/year$), respectively. The latter refers to the rate at which surface water is added to an aquifer (Sharma, 1986). We assume that surface water is composed of the aquifer's natural recharge and other runoff, like percolation and injection wells (or water injected as part of a managed aquifer recharge program). The other negative externality associated with LS, the indirect loss of aquifer's storage capacity is addressed as follows. We define the rate (in meters) at which inelastic compaction is occurring due to groundwater pumping (Construction outlined in the Appendix) as suggested by Poland (1969, p.288-290)

$$\Delta q = y_v b \gamma_w (1 - n + n_w) D(W), \tag{9}$$

where y_v represents the compacting beds' mean compressibility. The parameters γ_w , n, and n_w represent the unit weight of water (N/m^3) , the porosity (dimensionless), and the moisture content of sediments above the water table (in the unsaturated zone) as a fraction of total volume (dimensionless). As explained in the Appendix, any rise in the effective stress (of course, lower than the pre-consolidation stress) causes elastic compaction. Hence, in practice, the precise point in time at which elastic compaction begins is not known with certainty until a certain level of subsidence occurs. We hypothesize that the elastic compaction phase begins exactly at

⁵ Radial distance from well (Radius of investigation) refers to the maximal distance from a pumping well up to which the properties of an aquifer have a significant impact on drawdown at the well (Bresciani et al., 2020).

⁶ Radius of influence (Influence radius) refers to the maximal distance from a pumping well up to which the impact of pumping is significant. (Bresciani et al., 2020).

the same time (t = 0) with the planning horizon. This assumption becomes even more important when the model is applied to aquifers that have already experienced or are experiencing land subsidence at present. Therefore, during the elastic compaction phase, previous Equation (5) becomes

$$\frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k} - (C_0 + C_1 H)W - \beta(\eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W)).$$
(10)

We further assume, following Dinar et al., (2020), that inelastic compaction begins at a certain point (a threshold H_T) in the water table drawdown. This is the point at which the effective stress exceeds the pre-consolidation stress. Thus, no aquifer storage capacity is lost before reaching this point. Likewise, we denote by ϕ the economic cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity (\$/*m* of inelastic compaction). The larger the inelastic compaction, the larger the aquifer's storage capacity loss. As a result, during inelastic compaction, the pump owner's overall benefit (Equation (5)) is given by Equation (11). In the model, we impose a fixed tax (ϕ) on the water extractor as a penalty for contributing to LS's third externality, as illustrated in the last term of Equation (11).

$$\frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k} - (C_0 + C_1 H)W - \beta(\eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W)) - \phi \Delta q.$$
(11)

The equation of motion of the aquifer water table level $\dot{H} = \frac{1}{AS}[R - (1 - \alpha)W]$, $0 < t < +\infty$ has been widely used in economic works pertaining to groundwater management (see Koundouri et al., 2017). Where A, S, R, and $0 \le \alpha < 1$ represent the area of the aquifer (m^2) , the storativity coefficient (dimensionless), the natural recharge rate $(m^3/year)$, and the percolation return flow coefficient (dimensionless), respectively. We also hypothesize that managed aquifer recharge (MAR) is allowed in our model for the sake of simplicity and applicability. Therefore, after combining (10), (11) and the water table dynamics, the social welfare maximization problem of the pump owner becomes

$$\max_{W,H,t_T} \int_{t=0}^{t=t_T} e^{-it} \left[\frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k} - (C_0 + C_1 H)W - \beta(\eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W)) \right] dt$$

$$+\int_{t=t_T}^{\infty} e^{-it} \left[\frac{W^2}{2k} - \frac{gW}{k} - (C_0 + C_1 H)W - \beta(\eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W)) - \phi \Delta q\right] dt,$$
(12)

subject to

$$\dot{H} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{AS} [R - (1 - \alpha)W] & t < t_T \\ \frac{1}{AS} [R - (1 - \alpha)W] & t \ge t_T \end{cases}$$
(13)

$$H(t_0) = H_0, \ H(t_T) = H_T, \ t_T = \text{ free.}$$
 (14)

In (12) - (14), *i* represents the discount rate. The value for H_T and t_T are determined by the model. A two-stage optimal control resolution is used to solve the above optimization problem. The theoretical foundations of the two-stage optimal control resolution were studied by Tomiyama(1985) and Tomiyama and Rossana (1989), and recently several authors have employed this approach (Makris, 2001; Boucekkine et al., 2004; de Frutos Cachorro et al., 2014; Esteban and Dinar, 2016; Dinar et al., 2020). The method requires splitting the optimization problem into two sub-problems. The second sub-problem (*SP2*) follows below.

$$\max_{W_{2},H_{2},t_{T}} \int_{t=t_{T}}^{\infty} e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_{2}^{2}}{2k} - \frac{gW_{2}}{k} - (C_{0} + C_{1}H_{2})W_{2} - \beta(\eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W_{2})) - \phi \Delta q \right] dt$$
(15)
subject to

$$\dot{H}_2 = \frac{1}{AS} [R - (1 - \alpha) W_2], \tag{16}$$

$$H_2(t_T) = H_T; \ H_T, t_T \text{ given.}$$
(17)

Land subsidence occurs as a result of compaction, as previously stated. There are two types of compaction: elastic and inelastic. Elastic compaction is reversible, but inelastic compaction is not. The elastic compaction phase is said to always occur first and then it switches to inelastic compaction at a time t_T . Proposition 1 presents the optimal solution during the inelastic compaction phase, assuming that the elastic compaction phase switches to the inelastic compaction phase at a time t_T .

Proposition 1. (Optimal solution) *if the farmer maximizes (15) subject to (16 - 17), the optimal paths (W*₂^{*}(t) *and H*₂^{*}(t)) *are determined by the following expressions.*

$$W_2^*(t) = \frac{x_2 A S}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N N - i \frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{i k C_1} \right] e^{x_2 (t - t_T)} - \frac{R}{\alpha - 1},$$
(18)

$$H_2^*(t) = \left[H_0 - \frac{NN - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}\right] e^{x_2(t - t_T)} + \frac{NN - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1},$$
(19)

where

$$x_2 = \frac{i - \sqrt{i^2 - 4 \cdot \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}}{2}$$

$$NN = -ig - ikC_0 - ik\beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$$
$$-ik\phi \cdot by_v \gamma_w (1 - n + n_w) \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) + \frac{C_1 kR}{AS}.$$

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

When only the water table depth externality is considered, Gisser and Sanchez (1980) obtained the optimal water table level and optimal extractions. Both the optimal water table level and optimal extractions have additional terms that depend on the subsidence rate and the quantity of inelastic compaction, compared to Gisser and Sanchez (1980) optimal solutions. Two new terms, $-ik\beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$ and $-ik\phi \cdot by_v\gamma_w(1-n+n_w)\frac{1}{2\pi T}\ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$, are introduced in both expressions. The economic cost of land sinking (direct LS negative externality) and the economic cost of losing aquifer storage capacity influence both the optimal levels of the water table and extractions. The greater the economic cost of each of the two LS negative externalities, the greater the influence on the water table and extractions at their optimal levels. It's worth noting that the terms $-ik\beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$ and $-ik\phi \cdot by_v\gamma_w(1-n+n_w)\frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w})$, respectively, represent the meters at which the land sinks per amount of groundwater extracted and the meters of inelastic compaction experienced per amount of groundwater extracted. Hence, for effective and optimal groundwater management policies, a better understanding of the contribution of groundwater pumping to land sinking and inelastic compaction of the aquifer is required. As a result, we arrive at propositions 2 and 3.

Proposition 2. The economic cost of land sinking has a direct impact on how groundwater

extractions are managed over time. If $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{AS}}$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the lower the optimal level of extractions. If $i > \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{AS}}$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the higher the optimal level of extractions. Furthermore, the economic cost of land sinking has a direct impact on how the water table level is managed over time. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 1$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the lower the optimal level of the water table. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} < 1$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the lower the optimal level of the water table.

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

Proposition 3. The economic cost of losing an aquifer's storage capacity has a direct impact on how groundwater extractions are managed over time. If $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{AS}}$, the higher the economic cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity the lower the optimal level of extractions. If $i > \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{AS}}$, the higher the economic cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity the higher the optimal level of extractions. Furthermore, the economic cost of losing aquifer's storage capacity has a direct impact on how the water table level is managed over time. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 1$, the higher the economic cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity the lower the optimal level of the water table. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} < 1$, the higher the economic cost of losing aquifer's storage capacity the higher the optimal level of the water table.

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

Propositions 2 and 3 demonstrate that a deeper understanding of particular aquifer properties is required to determine the two economic costs (cost of land sinking and cost of losing aquifer storage capacity), which result in decreased extractions and higher water table levels over time. The social discount rate, the slopes of the given water demand and pumping costs, the aquifer's area and storativity coefficient, and the aquifer's return flow coefficient are all factors to consider. These findings have tangible policy implications for groundwater management, particularly in aquifers where LS is not taken into account in groundwater management policies or where the LS-associated costs are determined by using a different approach. Our results demonstrate, in a way that has never been done before, how the rate of subsidence and the decline in aquifer storage capacity influence optimal groundwater management.

Once the solution to sub-problem 2 is obtained, we solve for a solution to sub-problem 1 (SP_1). Following Raouf et al., (2003); Boucekkine et al., (2004); and Dinar et al., (2020), we impose the following matching conditions for optimality and continuity.

$$\lambda_1(t_T) = -\frac{\partial SP_2^*(t_T, H_T)}{\partial H_T}$$
(20)

$$\mathcal{H}_1^*(t_T, H_T) = \frac{\partial SP_2^*(t_T, H_T)}{\partial t_T},\tag{21}$$

where $SP_2^*(\cdot)$ represents the optimal solution to sub-problem 2. The variable \mathcal{H}_1 represents the hamiltonian for sub-problem 1. As a result, sub-problem 1 is given by

$$\max_{W_{1},H_{1}} \int_{t=0}^{t=t_{T}} e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_{1}^{2}}{2k} - \frac{gW_{1}}{k} - (C_{0} + C_{1}H_{1})W_{1} - \beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot D(W_{1}) \right] dt + SP_{2}^{*}(H_{T}^{*}, t_{T}^{*})$$
(22)

subject to

$$\dot{H}_1 = \frac{1}{AS} [R - (1 - \alpha)W_1],$$
(23)

$$H_1(t_0) = H_0; \ H_1(t_T) = H_T; \ H_0 \text{ given and } H_T \text{ free; } 0 \le t < t_T.$$
 (24)

In Proposition 1, we found the optimal solution for the inelastic compaction phase. This phase occurs only if the elastic compaction phase switches at time t_T ; otherwise, the elastic compaction phase continues indefinitely. Proposition 4 presents the optimal solution during the elastic compaction phase, assuming that the elastic compaction phase ends at time t_T and the inelastic compaction phase begins after that.

Proposition 4. (Optimal solution) *if the farmer maximizes (22) subject to (23 - 24), the optimal paths (W*₁^{*}(t) and $H_1^*(t)$) are determined by the following expressions.

$$W_1^*(t) = \tilde{A} e^{y_1 t} + \tilde{B} e^{y_2 t} - \frac{R}{\alpha - 1},$$
(25)

$$H_1^*(t) = \frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS y_1} \tilde{A} e^{y_1 t} + \frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS y_2} \tilde{B} e^{y_2 t} + \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1},$$
(26)

where

$$y_{1,2} = \frac{i \pm \sqrt{i^2 - 4 \cdot \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}}{2}$$

$$N = -ig - ikC_0 - ik\beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) + \frac{kC_1R}{AS}$$

$$\tilde{A} = \frac{y_1 A S}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1} - \frac{[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}] e^{y_1 t} T - [H_T - \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}]}{e^{y_1 t} T - e^{y_2 t} T} \right],$$

$$\tilde{B} = \frac{y_2 AS}{\alpha - 1} \left[\frac{[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}] e^{y_1 t_T} - [H_T - \frac{N - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}]}{e^{y_1 t_T} - e^{y_2 t_T}} \right].$$

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

The economic cost of land sinking affects both the optimal level of the water table and levels of extractions, as found under the inelastic compaction phase. The greater the economic cost of land sinking, the greater the influence on the water table and extractions at their optimal levels. Similarly, the social discount rate, the water demand slope, the pumping costs slope, the aquifer's area and storativity coefficient, and the aquifer's return flow coefficient are the aquifer properties to be considered when determining the economic cost of land sinking that yields lower extractions and higher levels of the water table. This results is presented in Proposition 5.

Proposition 5. The economic cost of land sinking has a direct impact on how groundwater extractions are managed over time. The higher the economic cost of land sinking the lower the

optimal level of extractions, except when $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{AS}}$ and $e^{y_1t_T} < e^{y_2t_T}$. Furthermore, the economic cost of land sinking has a direct impact on how water table level is managed over time. If $e^{y_1t_T} > e^{y_2t_T}$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the lower the optimal level of the water table. If $e^{y_1t_T} < e^{y_2t_T}$, the higher the economic cost of land sinking the higher the optimal level of the water table.

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

In this study, two regulatory policies (quotas and taxes) on groundwater utilization are investigated. All of the previous propositions only addressed taxes as a policy intervention to address land subsidence impacts. For quotas, we introduce an additional constraint ($W(t) \leq \widehat{W}(t)$) to the constraints (13) and (14). Where $\widehat{W}(t)$ represents the quota level. The social welfare maximization problem ((12) - (14)) should then be resolved with this new additional constraint in mind. We don't need to introduce a Lagrangian function to determine the necessary conditions since the constraints on the control variable (W(t)) are independent of the state variable (H(t)) and do not change with time t. Proposition 6 presents the condition under which $W^*(t) \leq \widehat{W}(t)$ is satisfied.

Proposition 6. *if the farmer maximizes (12) subject to (13) - (14) and an additional constraint* $W(t) \le \widehat{W}(t)$, the optimal paths ($W^*(t)$ and $H^*(t)$) should satisfy the following expression.

$$t_T \ge \frac{1}{x_2} \ln \left[\frac{x_2 A S[H_0(\alpha - 1)ikC_1 - NN(\alpha - 1) - iR]}{[\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R]ikC_1(\alpha - 1)} \right]$$
(27)

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

Proposition 6 above represents the case when both taxes and quotas are taken into account. When quotas are implemented, we expect that the height to the water table level will fall as more water is left untouched due to withdrawal limits. As a result, the rate of compaction is lowered. Consequently, the transition (time t_T) from the elastic to the inelastic phase of compaction is delayed. All of the optimal paths ($W^*(t)$ and $H^*(t)$) described in Propositions 1 and 4 contain the switching time t_T (either implicitly or explicitly). Therefore, the switching time given in equation (27) is substituted into equations (18) and (19). For equations (25) and (26) where t_T appears implicitly, we compute the value of H_T using t_T to determine the optimal paths. Likewise, Proposition 7 presents the case when only quotas are taken into account.

Proposition 7. if the farmer maximizes (12) where $\beta = \phi = 0$ subject to (13) - (14) and an additional constraint $W(t) \leq \widehat{W}(t)$, the optimal paths ($W^*(t)$ and $H^*(t)$) should satisfy the following expression.

$$N_0 \ge H_0 - \frac{[\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R]ikC_1}{x_2AS} + \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}$$
(28)

A proof of this proposition can be found in the Appendix.

The theoretical results in propositions 1-7 are demonstrated using an empirical application to the Dendron aquifer in South Africa. We follow with a sensitivity analysis of the parameters associated with land subsidence externality as well as the groundwater storage capacity externality. This enables us to have a clear interpretation of the optimal paths as they are more complex to interpret in the theoretical framework.

3. Application to the Dendron aquifer, South Africa

The numerical application uses the Dendron aquifer in the Hout River Catchment of South Africa, located in the Limpopo River Basin. The land usage in the Dendron (known as Mogwadi) area is predominantly for agriculture, as evidenced by the presence of more than 200 farms in the area, 50 of which are entirely irrigated and do not support livestock (Masiyandima et al., 2002). The remaining farms are livestock-based, and as a result, groundwater is used for livestock and feed watering. Because there are no reliable surface water sources in the area, groundwater has become the area's sole source of water. For more than 2 decades, the aquifer has been the sole source of irrigation water for both commercial and non-commercial farmers in the area

(Masiyandima et al., 2002). The area had around 335 boreholes in 1986, with irrigation accounting for 95% of groundwater withdrawals (Jolly, 1986). The remaining 5% of groundwater withdrawals were for domestic consumption and livestock watering. Groundwater overexploitation in the aquifer is said to have begun in the 1970s, when the area had a lower density of farms and hence fewer irrigation activities than it has now. The problem worsened as additional farms were established in the area, and also exacerbated by the recurring drought events in recent years. The irrigated area in the Dendron area rose by nearly 170 percent between 1968 and 1986, leading to a 133 percent rise in groundwater withdrawals and a 5 to 35meter drop in the water table (Masiyandima et al., 2002). According to Masiyandima et al. (2002), the farmers' union set a regulation that only 3% of each 1000 hectares of land should be irrigated with groundwater, in an attempt to prevent overexploitation of the aquifer. In addition, farmers began practicing a variety of cropping patterns and irrigation water management strategies, such as switching from furrow irrigation to manual move sprinkler systems, and finally center pivots, which are now utilized on the majority of farms in the area (Masiyandima et al., 2002). As a result, around early 1990s, groundwater levels began to rise again in the aquifer (Masiyandima et al., 2002). Severe flood events, in combination with the aforementioned farming patterns and irrigation water management practices, induced a rise in the water table level. Severe flood events have been observed in the Limpopo River Basin in the last ten years, in 1955, 1967, 1972, 1975, 1977, 1981, 1990, 2000, and 2013 (CRIDF, 2018).

Dendron farmers are also required to apply for a permit for each borehole used for irrigation under the country's 1998 National Water Act, with the exception of household use, which is not licensed (NWA 1998). The Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS) monitors groundwater abstractions as per each individual permit during its validity. Groundwater permits are valid for forty years and are reassessed every fifth year (NWA 1998). However, the height to water table continued to increase further due to the failure to monitor groundwater abstractions, weak or non-enforcement of groundwater permits, and farmers' failure to comply with mitigation techniques put in place to prevent groundwater overexploitation (Fallon et al., 2018). In 2000, the height to water table increased at a much faster rate after regulatory measures were

implemented, resulting in a 50 to 100-meters below ground level (Masiyandima et al., 2002). In June 2012, a borehole drilled into the aquifer revealed a height to water table of 98 meters below ground level (Fallon et al., 2018). Apart from the obvious occurrence of land subsidence events in the Dentron area, land subsidence events have been recorded in the Limpopo province of South Africa, where the Dentron area is located (Oosthuizen and Richardson, 2011, p.8).

3.1 Data for the numerical application

The hydrological and economic data used in our empirical application are gathered from previous studies in the area as well as groundwater reports from the South Africa Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS). The Hout River Catchment has a semi-arid climate, with an average annual rainfall of 407 millimeters, sandy soil, with Luvisols covering approximately 56% of the catchment (Ebrahim et al., 2019). Geologically, the Dendron aquifer is made up of two interdependent aquifers, the upper weathered aquifer and the lower fractured aquifer (Jolly, 1986). According to Murray and Tredoux (2002), the aquifers are partially filled with clay as a result of weathering in the upper aquifer. The presence of fine-grained sediments (clay sediments) within the aquifers makes the Dendron aquifer more vulnerable to land subsidence episodes. The upper aquifer area is reported to be between 12-50 meters below the ground surface, while the lower aquifer area extends up to 120 meters below the ground surface. The contact between the upper and lower aquifer, according to Masiyandima et al. (2002), is at 35-50 meters below ground surface. As a result, the total aquifer thickness is assumed to be 108 meters. The catchment's irrigated field surface elevation is roughly 1289.5 meters above sea level (Ebrahim et al., 2019). We further assume that the initial height to the water table is 98 meters below surface level, which is the aquifer's most recent water table measurement (Fallon et al., 2018). The long-term annual natural recharge to the aquifer is estimated to be 3.8 percent of MAP, or 7.35 million cubic meters, according to Dziembowski (1976) and Jolly (1986). The aquifer's annual groundwater recharge (overall recharge of groundwater with surface water via river infiltration, rain infiltration, underground supply, returns from surface water uses etc.) is estimated at 702 million cubic meters (Holland, 2011). The aquifer covers an area of about 1, $600km^2$ (Masiyandima et al., 2002). The aquifer's return flow coefficient is calculated to be 0.2 (Jolly, 1986). Ebrahim et al. (2019) reported the mean hydraulic conductivity to be 259.15 meters per year (0.71 meters per day). When the hydraulic conductivity is multiplied by the aquifer thickness, the transmissivity is 27, 988.2 square meters per year. Fractured rocks have a vertical compressibility of $3.3 \times 10^{-10} ms^2/kg$ to $6.9 \times 10^{-10} ms^2/kg$ (Domenico and Schwartz, 1990). We assume that the confining material compressibility is equal to $5.1 \times 10^{-10} ms^2/kg$ by using the median of the aforementioned compressibility values. Likewise, the mean compressibility of compacting beds is considered to be the same. The radius of influence is equal to 46.4 meters. The radial distance from the well (r_w) is generally given by $r_w = \frac{1}{2}r_i$ as a rule of thumb, that is $r_w = 23.2m$ (Bresciani et al., 2020).

In comparison to the lower aquifer, which has a high yield, the upper aquifer has a low storage and yield (Jolly, 1986). Furthermore, the water table level is reported to be deeper than in the weathered zone in most parts (Holland, 2012). As a result, the majority of agricultural production wells in the aquifer are drilled up to the aquifer's lower zone, which is the lower fractured aquifer (Fallon et al., 2018; Holland 2011, 2012). Therefore, the yield-related parameters for the aquifer are determined using the lower aquifer's hydrological data. According to Masiyandima et al. (2002), the storativity coefficient is 0.0025. When certain yield-related parameters are unavailable, other authors have used values from other weathered-fractured aquifers to analyze groundwater in the Dendron area in the past (Jolly 1986; Ebrahim et al., 2019). We made use of a porosity value of 0.0068 calculated by Stober and Bucher (2007) for a fractured zone of a weathered-fractured aquifer in Germany.

The economic price and cost values are given in US dollars for simplicity. The slope of the irrigation water demand function (decrease in quantity demanded per one dollar rises in irrigation water price) in the adjacent sub-catchment, the Middle Olifants sub-catchment, is equal to -0.181 (Walter et al., 2011). The price of irrigation water is 3907.38 US dollars (27, 000 Rands) per million cubic meters, based on the 2011 currency rate (Lange and Hassan, 2006). This figure represents the average tariff for raw water in the catchment area. We calculate the

intercept of the demand function to be 724.24 using the average groundwater abstractions from the aquifer of 17 million cubic meters per year (Ebrahim et al., 2019). According to DWAF (2003), the fixed pumping cost in a fractured rock aquifer of depths up to 120 meters below ground surface in South Africa is 4, 551.20 US dollars per cubic meter. This figure represents the fixed cost of operating and maintaining a single pump (or borehole), that is, the cost when no groundwater is pumped. This covers mechanical and electrical maintenance, as well as the amortization of extraction technology. The electrical expenses to pump water from the aquifer are estimated to be 0.0026 USD per cubic meter or 2,604.92 US dollars per million cubic meters (DWAF, 2003). To maintain the same reference year for the parameter values as 2011, the pumping cost intercept in 2011 is 5,209.84 US dollars. Using the pumping cost function, we find that the slope of the pumping cost function in the area is -13.29. During the reference year (2011), the social discount rate was set at 8% (Conningarth Economists, 2014, pp.69-70). At the time, this was the official social discount rate applicable in South Africa. In the analysis, we use the same discount rate to calculate the net present value (NPV) of the calculated welfare. However, the level of the social discount rate is important in deciding how profitable policy interventions are for farmers. Because 8% is relatively high, we utilize 2.3 percent to perform a sensitivity analysis and analyze the influence of the discount rate level on the NPV. This rate (2.3 %) represents the average social discount rate in South Africa across the years as simulated by Addicott et al (2020).

Parameter	Description	Units	Value (US dollars)
k	Water demand slope	\$/Mm ³	-0.181
g	Water demand intercept	\$/Mm ³	724.24
<i>C</i> ₀	Pumping costs intercept	\$/Mm ³	5209.84
<i>C</i> ₁	Pumping costs slope	\$/Mm ³ m	-13.29
α	Return flow coefficient	dimensionless	0.2
H ₀	Current water table	т	98
R	Natural recharge	Mm ³ /year	7.35

Table 1: Hydrological and economic values of the Dendron aquifer.

А	Aquifer area	km ²	1600
S	Storativity coefficient	dimensionless	0.0025
i	Social discount rate	%	0.08
β	Economic cost of land sinking	\$/Mm ³	2943.95
η	Water density	Kg/m^3	1000
b	Aquifer's thickness	m	108
ψ	Confined material compressibility	ms²/kg	5.1×10^{-10}
п	Porosity	dimensionless	0.0068
Ζ	Groundwater recharge rate	Mm ³ /year	702
Т	Transmissivity	m²/year	27988.2
v	Hydraulic conductivity	m/year	259.15
r _w	Radial distance from well	m	23.2
r _i	Influence radius	m	46.4
ϕ	Economic cost of losing storage capacity	\$/Mm ³	31.57
y_v	Compacting beds mean compressibility	ms²/kg	5.1×10^{-10}
ε	Gravitational acceleration	<i>m/s</i> ²	9.81
n _w	Vadose moisture/ Total volume	dimensionless	0.1
Υw	Unit weight of water	N/m^3	9810

4. Policy interventions

Two policy interventions taxes and quotas on pumping are used in our empirical application to regulate the negative externalities associated with LS. For the taxes, we hypothesize that pumping should be taxed in order to minimize groundwater extractions and therefore the negative impacts of LS. The specific tariff per meter of elastic compaction was obtained using the existing fixed charge for infrastructure costs per abstraction (volume of groundwater extracted) for a typical river basin in South Africa. For the inelastic compaction phase, we assumed that the tax is the same as the current afforestation cost per volume of groundwater extraction charge. The charges for infrastructure costs and afforestation per abstraction costs for a typical river

basin in South Africa were 2,943.95 USD per million cubic meters and 31.57 US dollars per million cubic meters, respectively, during the reference year (Conningarth Economists, 2014, p.105). As a result, without loss of generality, we assume that the economic costs of the direct LS negative externality and the indirect LS negative externality are 2,943.95 US dollars per meter of sinking and 31.57 US dollars per meter of inelastic compaction, respectively. We used multiple values derived by altering the assumed fixed taxes for the sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of both the economic cost of land sinking and the cost of losing aquifer storage capacity on the water table level and extractions. We used $\beta = 2,943.95$ and $\beta = 10,000$ for the economic cost of land sinking. This allowed us to see the effects of extremely high or low tax values of the direct LS negative externality on the water table level and withdrawals. We used $\phi = 31.57$ and $\phi = 63.14$ for the economic cost of losing aquifer storage capacity (Conningarth Economists, 2014, p.105). This also allowed us to observe the effects of high or low tax values of the indirect LS negative externality.

We use the existing allocated pumping quotas to regulate pumping as per the DWS. In South Africa, groundwater extractors are required to apply for a permit for each borehole or pump used for the extraction of water for irrigation under the country's 1998 National Water Act, with the exception of household use, which is not licensed (NWA 1998). The Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS) monitors groundwater abstractions as per each permit during its validity. Groundwater extraction for uses other than domestic consumption requires either a general authorization (GA) or a water use licence from DWS (Reddick and Kruger, 2019). To be eligible for a groundwater permit, the user must meet all of the requirements outlined in the applicable permit. For the GA, a farm can only extract 0.04 million cubic meters per year, regardless of its location (Reddick and Kruger, 2019). As a result, we assume that each farmer's maximum pumping allotment (quota) is 0.04 million cubic meters per year. We use 0.02 million cubic meters per year for the sensitivity analysis on quotas.

5. Results and discussions

The analysis uses 2011 as the base year because it is the most recent year for which we have data on the water table level. Since the steady-state levels are reached between the 30th and 50th years of our simulation, the planning horizon is 50 years. First, we consider a situation without land subsidence and any regulatory policy (Figure 1). We observe a sharp increase in groundwater extractions and the height to water table for the first 10 years, then a gradual increase thereafter. The increase in groundwater extractions is due to the rising population growth and economic activities in the area. The increase in the height of the water table is due to the water table depth externality; the higher the volume of groundwater extraction, the deeper the water table, and hence the greater the extraction cost. After 33 years, groundwater extractions attain a steadystate $(9Mm^3)$, while the water table level reaches a steady-state (117 m. b. g. l) after 34 years. Although this time frame appears to be far too long to reach a steady-state in an overexploited aquifer like the one under analysis, multiple earlier studies in the literature reveal that a steadystate might be reached after 5000 years or more (Gisser and Sanchez, 1980; Allen and Gisser, 1984). However, Jolly (1986) indicated that little or no groundwater is found after 120 meters below ground level in the Dendron aquifer. This water table level is almost reached in the first 34 years of pumping, indicating that the aquifer is being over-pumped, as shown in Figure 1. Social welfare is defined as the net present value (NPV) when all of the LS negative externalities are taken into account. The farmer's private welfare is represented by the private NPV (when only the depth externality is considered). The farmer's private NPV is positive (330,302.5 US dollars), suggesting that the revenue value exceeds the costs. This profit is made, however, at the expense of draining the aquifer in 34 years. This finding indicates that the aquifer is being over-exploited, necessitating prompt intervention. Also note that groundwater extractions are negative during the first three years, indicating that aquifer replenishment is occurring, maybe through artificial recharge or significant rainfall events that lasted for short periods (flash floods). During this time, however, the height of the water table continued to increase, indicating that a drought was occurring over the long term.



Figure 1. Dendron aquifer without LS and without any policy intervention.



Figure 2. Dendron aquifer with taxes on land subsidence.

Secondly, we consider a situation in which there is land subsidence and taxes to avert land subsidence impacts (Figure 2). The only policy intervention considered is groundwater pumping levies, which are implemented to reduce land subsidence impacts. Thus, we use all of the parameters associated with the indirect loss of aquifer storage capacity externality and the direct land subsidence externality listed in Table 1 (β , η , ψ , n, Z, T, v, r_w , r_i , ϕ , y_v , ε , \tilde{n}_w , γ). We see that the height to the water table drops from 114 meters below ground level to 101 meters below a

ground level around year 12. As a result, during the same period, groundwater extractions decreased from 7 Mm3 to -4 Mm3. The negative value (-4 Mm3) indicates that aquifer replenishment is occurring around year 12. Particularly, in year 13, the critical threshold (H_T) is reached, and the height to water table level abruptly rises again. As farmers begin to adapt to the new land sinking taxes, the height to the water table begins to rise. Farmers lower extractions initially when taxes are implemented in year 12, but after they have adapted to the new taxes, they gradually increase extractions to fulfill their water needs. This is because, although farmers are charged with taxes on groundwater extractions, population growth and economic activity continue to rise. It's worth mentioning that, from the beginning (year 0) until year 12, both the water table level and groundwater extractions are roughly the same as they are when the direct LS externality is not considered. This demonstrates that penalizing groundwater extractors for the direct LS externality does not affect groundwater extractions or water table elevation. This result, however, only applies to aquifers with rock-based lithologies, such as the Dendron aquifer. Because aquifers with rock-based lithologies are less prone to LS (Dinar et al., 2021), the same result may differ when sediment-based lithologies, which are more prone to compaction, are analyzed. The aquifer's susceptibility to LS is determined by the compacting beds' mean compressibility (or the confined material compressibility) y_{ν} . To demonstrate this, we will use a hypothetical aquifer with a higher compressibility value. We adjust y_v from 5.1×10^{-10} to 0.05 to represent the hypothetical aquifer with sediment-based lithology or compacting beds, which are more compressible than rock-based lithologies. In this case, when groundwater extractors are charged or penalized for land sinking, groundwater extractions decrease as shown in Figure 3. Charging groundwater extractors for the direct LS externality could be beneficial if the current water table level was within the upper aquifer of the Dendron aquifer, which has sediment-based lithologies. In the year 43, the water table reaches its steady-state level. This result demonstrates that charging groundwater extractors for the indirect loss of aquifer storage capacity increases the water table level while also increasing groundwater extractions. The social NPV is negative (-801,052.61 US dollars), suggesting that the revenue value is below the costs. As a result, when land subsidence taxes are in place, farmers lose money. However, the loss is made at the expense of supporting the aquifer to attain the water table level steady state (117 m.b.g.l) in year 43 rather than year 34 (when LS is not considered). This minimizes aquifer depletion over a short period, as well as the effects of land subsidence. Over a 50-year planning horizon, the social net present value for the hypothetical aquifer that is extremely prone to land subsidence adds up to 1,696,061,155,669,340 US dollars. This suggests that land subsidence taxes reduce the ostensible effects while also enhancing long-term profits for farmers.



Figure 3: Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS and a high compressibility value of the compacting beds.

To estimate the impacts of LS on the optimal paths for groundwater extraction and water-table level, we perform a sensitivity analysis on the economic costs imposed on groundwater extractors to avert land sinking and the reduction of aquifer storage capacity. Except for the transmissivity (T) and the radius of influence (r_i), all of the parameters associated with the two damage functions are multiplicative. There is no need to perform a sensitivity analysis on the radial distance from the pumping well (r_w) because it is computed from r_i . As a result, except for T and r_i , the result of the sensitivity analysis performed with the economic cost of each damage function applies to all other parameters of that damage function.

Figure 4 confirms what we already know; charging groundwater extractors for the direct LS externality has no effect on the water table level in the Dendron aquifer. The same can be said

for groundwater extractions. As previously stated, this is due to the compacting beds in the aquifer having a lower compressibility value. Even if very higher values of β are taken (i.e. 150,000), the water table level does not change.



Figure 4: Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS and different values of the economic cost of land sinking.



Figure 5: Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS and different values of the economic cost of losing aquifer storage capacity.

When groundwater extractors are taxed for the indirect LS negative externality, the same effect

of rock-based lithologies affects groundwater extractions and the water table level (Figure 5). Only that, compared to the zero effect reported for the direct LS negative externality, leads to a very small effect in this case. When groundwater extractors lead to the indirect loss of aquifer storage capacity, as shown in Figure 5, the height to the water table drops sharply. Because the water table is near the irrigation surface, groundwater users react rapidly by extracting more water than previously. However, regardless of whether they are charged more or less for the same negative externality, their withdrawal patterns (which are dependent on the water table level) stay the same. To summarize, holding groundwater extractors liable for the Dendron aquifer's indirect loss of storage capacity delays the aquifer's depletion, but nothing can be done once the first delay occurs. By the first delay, we mean the farmers' initial reaction to the imposed tax, which differs from how they will react to the same tax in the long run.





Finally, the level of transmissivity or the radius of influence of the Dendron aquifer has no effect on groundwater extractions and the water table level (Figures 6 and 7). It's also worth noting that the private NPV is the same for all of the sensitivities examined here (Figure 8), thus there's no need for presenting a private NPV graph. Figure 8 illustrates that Farmers benefit from groundwater consumption when only the depth externality is considered (private NPV). When the two taxes on LS externalities are considered, the social welfare is negative. In addition, farmers' profits and social welfare levels are more reduced when the economic cost of land sinking is high and also when the transmissivity value is high.



Figure 7: Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS and different values of the radius of influence.



Figure 8: Social level NPV for the Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS (discount rate equal to 0.08). We can conclude that alternative regulatory policies in the aquifer should be chosen to avert

aquifer depletion and LS impacts while also optimising the social welfare because we found that this tax does not influence the water table level and extractions. Similarly, high tax values on the indirect LS negative externality result in lower social welfare, whereas low tax values result in higher social welfare. This tax delays aquifer depletion, but it does not benefit farmers or society. As a result, implementing it in the aquifer should be avoided to make way for other regulatory policies that may be more effective in averting LS impacts. As mentioned already, the NPV of social welfare is positive and very high (1,696,061,155,669,340.00 US dollars) in the hypothetical aquifer that is particularly prone to LS (unlike the Dendron aquifer, which is not prone to LS). This suggests that when an aquifer is prone to LS, the two taxes on LS externalities benefit farmers and society. As a result, such taxes should be imposed only on these aquifers to assist farmers financially and also reduce LS externalities that affect society.



Figure 9: Social level NPV for the Dendron aquifer with taxes on LS when the social discount rate is 2.3%.

Farmers from the Dendron aquifer benefit from LS taxes when the social discount rate is low, as seen in Figure 9. We notice that all of the NPV values are positive, as opposed to being negative under the 8% social discount rate. When the economic cost of land sinking and the transmissivity values are high, society benefits more from these levies. It's also worth noting that the private NPV is the same for all of the sensitivities examined here, thus there's no need for a private NPV graph. Figure 10 demonstrates that when quotas are implemented, the steady-state for groundwater extractions is reached after nearly 40 years (compared to 33 years without policy intervention), whereas the water table level takes about 35 years (34 years when there is no policy intervention). The level of the quota has little effect on extractions and the level of the water table; the optimal paths stay the same. The main thing to note here is that the water table level falls dramatically compared to when LS taxes are considered, as well as when no policy is considered at all. In terms of water conservation, levies are therefore preferable to quotas.



Figure 10: Dendron aquifer with different levels of quotas.

Society benefits financially from the establishment of quotas, as shown in Figure 11, because the NPV for quotas is substantially higher than when there is no policy at all (private NPV). Similarly, when the discount rate is low or the quota level is low, the social NPV is substantially higher. Figure 12 indicates that in the Dendron aquifer, quotas and taxes preserve the water table level between 117.4 and 117.8 m.b.g.l for over 50 years. In fewer than 30 years, both extractions and the water table level will have achieved a steady-state. Farmers lose 9,896,777 US dollars. However, the initial water table level has risen (from 98 to 117.4 m.b.g.l, contradicting the water table dynamics' initial requirements. As a result, taxes are more beneficial than quotas.



Figure 11: Social NPV for the Dendron aquifer with different levels of quotas and discount rates.



Figure 12. Dendron aquifer with both quotas and taxes on LS.

6. Conclusion and Policy Implications

Not only physically, but also economically, land subsidence poses a serious threat to people, infrastructure, and the environment. However, very little has been done to date in terms of the economic analyses of LS and its management. The theoretical and empirical application results

presented have significant implications for managing LS and addressing its consequences. We found that, for effective and optimal groundwater management policies, a better understanding of the effects of groundwater pumping on land sinking and inelastic aquifer compaction is required. Most of the time, policymakers either attempt to mitigate the bad effects of LS without regard for the groundwater scarcity problem, or they attempt to solve the groundwater scarcity problem without regard for LS. However, addressing the two issues concurrently minimizes the amount of effort and resources spent on LS damages and water scarcity.

By using an economic optimization model of groundwater use, we were able to show that groundwater scarcity may be alleviated while also minimizing LS impacts. We discovered that understanding groundwater pumping effect on the direct LS damage externality is not required for optimal management of rock-based aquifer lithologies such as the Dentron aquifer. This is because these aquifers are less susceptible to LS, thus imposing direct LS negative externality policies on groundwater withdrawal does not alleviate either the LS problem or the water scarcity problem. However, successful groundwater management in sediment-based aquifer lithologies necessitates a thorough understanding of the direct (LS) damage externality. We discovered that the economic cost of land sinking and that of losing aquifer storage capacity have an effect on groundwater extractions and water table levels. The investigation of the indirect loss of aquifer storage capacity owing to LS is one of the study's significant findings.

To summarize, holding groundwater extractors liable for the Dendron aquifer's indirect loss of storage capacity delays the aquifer's depletion, but nothing can be done once the first delay occurs. We discovered that when there is no land subsidence and no regulatory policy in place, farmers benefit financially from groundwater in the Dendron aquifer. This profit is made, however, at the expense of draining the aquifer within a short period. This finding indicates that the aquifer is being over-exploited, necessitating prompt intervention. When there is land subsidence and still no regulatory policy, farmers and society face a loss. Farmers and society do not gain financially from the land subsidence levies proposed in the Dendron aquifer. However, the loss is made at the expense of sustaining the aquifer to avoid depletion within a short time.

We discovered that over the planning horizon, farmers and society benefit from groundwater in sediment-based lithologies aquifers. As a result, the imposed taxes benefit farmers and society financially.

We further conclude that implementing the two taxes on LS in the Dendron aquifer should be avoided to make way for other regulatory policies that may be more effective in averting LS impacts. High tax values on both the direct and the indirect LS negative externalities result in poor social welfare (huge losses), whereas low tax values result in better social welfare (small losses). When LS is considered, the farmers' social welfare is positive and very high in aquifers that are particularly prone to LS. As a result, such taxes should be imposed only in these aquifers to assist farmers financially and also reduce LS externalities. Farmers and society benefit from groundwater consumption when only the depth externality is considered. Even when the two taxes on LS externalities are taken into account, the farmer's private NPV is always positive. We also discovered that when the discount rate is smaller, farmers and society in the Dendron aquifer gain from the implementation of taxes and quotas regulatory policies. In comparison to the case when no policy intervention is made, farmers profit financially from the imposition of quotas. As a result, in terms of social welfare benefits, quotas are more favorable to farmers and society than taxes. Taxes are preferable to quotas when it comes to groundwater conservation.

References

Addicott, E., Fenichel, E. and Kotchen, M., 2020. Even the Representative Agent Must Die: Using Demographics to Inform Long-Term Social Discount Rates. *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 7(2), pp.379-415.

Allen, R. and Gisser, M., 1984. Competition Versus Optimal Control in Groundwater Pumping When Demand is Nonlinear. *Water Resources Research*, 20(7), pp.752-756.

Borchers, H.L. and Carpenter, M., 2014. Land subsidence from groundwater use in California. California Water Foundation, Summary Report, April.

BOUCEKKINE, R., SAGLAM, C. and VALLE, T., 2004. TECHNOLOGY ADOPTION UNDER EMBODIMENT: A TWO-STAGE OPTIMAL CONTROL APPROACH. *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 8(2), pp.250-271.

Bresciani, E., Shandilya, R., Kang, P. and Lee, S., 2020. Well radius of influence and radius of investigation: What exactly are they and how to estimate them?. *Journal of Hydrology*, [online] 583, 124646. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.124646> [Accessed 6 January 2021].

Brill, T. C. and Burness, H. S. (1994). Planning versus competitive rates of groundwater pumping. *Water Resources Research*, 30(6), pp.1873-1880.

Cao, Y., Wei, Y., Fan, W., Peng, M. and Bao, L., 2020. Experimental study of land subsidence in response to groundwater withdrawal and recharge in Changping District of Beijing. *PLOS ONE*, 15(5), p.e0232828.

Conningarth Economists (2014). A Manual for Cost Benefit Analysis in South Africa with Specific Reference to Water Resource Development (3rd edn.). WRC Report No. TT 598/14. Water Research Commission, Pretoria.

Conway, B., 2015. Land subsidence and earth fissures in south-central and southern Arizona, USA. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 24(3), pp.649-655.

Costa, A., Kok, S. and Korff, M., 2020. Systematic assessment of damage to buildings due to groundwater lowering-induced subsidence: methodology for large scale application in the Netherlands. *Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences*, 382, pp.577-582.

CRIDF, 2018. *CRIDF Case study: Limpopo River Basin*. Data sharing and early warning flood forecasting in the Limpopo River Basin. [online] Pretoria: Climate Resilient Infrastructure Development Facility (CRIDF). Available at:

<https://media.africaportal.org/documents/P2537_CRIDF_CS_LIMPOPO_WEB_v5.pdf> [Accessed 10 December 2021].

de Frutos Cachorro, J., Erdlenbruch, K. and Tidball, M. (2014). Optimal adaptation strategies to face shocks on groundwater resources. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 40, pp.134-153.

Dinar, A., Esteban, E., Calvo, E., Herrera, G., Teatini, P., Tomás, R., Li, Y. and Albiac, J., 2020. Land Subsidence: The Forgotten Enigma of Groundwater (Over)Extraction. In: *ASSA 2020 Annual Meeting*. [online] San Diego, CA: American Economic Association, p.Natural Resources as Assets. Available at: https://www.aeaweb.org/conference/2020/preliminary/paper/G59BftQy [Accessed 5 March 2020].

Dinar, A., E. Esteban, E. Calvo, G. Herrera, P. Teatini, R. Toma's, Y. Li, P. Ezquerro, and Jose Albiac, (2021). We Lose Ground: Global Assessment of Land Subsidence Impact Extent. *Science of the Total Environment*, 786:147415, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147415.

Domenico, P. and Schwartz, F., 1990. Physical and chemical hydrogeology. 2nd ed. New York: Wiley.

DWAF (Department of Water Affairs and Forestry), South Africa. 2003. Groundwater Assessment. Prepared by G. Papini of Groundwater Consulting Services as part of the Breede River Basin Study. DWAF Report No. PH 00/00/2502.

Dziembowski, Z. M. 1976. The Geohydrology of the Dendron Area, Pietersburg District. A Report for the Department of Mines. Geological Survey, Pretoria.

Ebrahim, G., Villholth, K. and Boulos, M., 2019. Integrated hydrogeological modelling of hardrock semi-arid terrain: supporting sustainable agricultural groundwater use in Hout catchment, Limpopo Province, South Africa. Hydrogeology Journal, 27(3), pp.965-981.

Esteban, E. and Albiac, J. (2011). Groundwater and ecosystems damages: Questioning the Gisser-Sanchez effect. *Ecological Economics*, 70(11), pp.2062-2069.

ESTEBAN, E. and DINAR, A., 2016. THE ROLE OF GROUNDWATER-DEPENDENT ECOSYSTEMS IN GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT. *Natural Resource Modeling*, 29(1), pp.98-129.

Faunt, C. C., Sneed, M., Traum, J. and Brandt, J. T. (2015). Water availability and land subsidence in the Central Valley, California, USA. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 24(3), pp.675-684.

Fallon, A., Villholth, K., Conway, D., Lankford, B. and Ebrahim, G. (2018). Agricultural groundwater management strategies and seasonal climate forecasting: perceptions from Mogwadi (Dendron), Limpopo, South Africa. Journal of Water and Climate Change. 10. jwc2018042. 10.2166/wcc.2018.042.

Galloway, D. L., Jones, D. R. and Ingebritsen, S. E. (1999). *Land subsidence in the United States*. Circular. [online] United States: U.S. Geological Survey. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3133/cir1182 [Accessed 23 Oct. 2019].

Galloway, D., Hudnut, K., Ingebritsen, S., Phillips, S., Peltzer, G., Rogez, F. and Rosen, P., 1998. Detection of aquifer system compaction and land subsidence using interferometric synthetic aperture radar, Antelope Valley, Mojave Desert, California. *Water Resources Research*, 34(10), pp.2573-2585.

Galloway, D., Erkens, G., Kuniansky, E. and Rowland, J., 2016. Preface: Land subsidence processes. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 24(3), pp.547-550.

Gisser, M. and Sanchez, D. A. (1980). Competition versus optimal control in groundwater pumping. *Water Resources Research*, 16(4), pp.638-642.

Guilfoos, T., Pape, A. D., Khanna, N. and Salvage, K. (2013). Groundwater management: The effect of water flows on welfare gains. *Ecological Economics*, 95, pp.31-40.

Helm, D.C., 1975, One-dimensional simulation of aquifer system compaction near Pixley, California. 1, Constant parameters. *Water Resources Research*, 11(3), p. 465-478.

Herrera-Garcia, G. et al. (18 additional co-authors), 2021. Mapping the global threat of land subsidence. *Science*, 371(6524):34-36.

Holland, M. (2011). Hydrogeological characterisation of crystalline basement aquifers within the Limpopo Province, South Africa. PhD Thesis, University of Pretoria, South Africa

Holland, M. (2012). Evaluation of factors influencing transmissivity in fractured hard-rock aquifers of the Limpopo Province. *Water SA*, 38:379–390.

Holzer, T.L., and Galloway, D.L., 2005, Impacts of land subsidence caused by withdrawal of underground fl uids in the United States, in Ehlen, J., Haneberg, W.C., and Larson, R.A., eds., Humans as Geologic Agents: Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America Reviews in Engineering Geology, v. XVI, p. 87-99, doi:10.1130/2005.4016(08).

Hu, B., Zhou, J., Xu, S., Chen, Z., Wang, J., Wang, D., Wang, L., Guo, J. and Meng, W., 2013. Assessment of hazards and economic losses induced by land subsidence in Tianjin Binhai new area from 2011 to 2020 based on scenario analysis. *Natural Hazards*, 66(2), pp.873-886.

Jolly, J.L., 1986. Borehole/Irrigation survey and groundwater evaluation of the Doringlaagte drainage basin. Technical Report No. GH3495. Department of Water Affairs.

Khorrami, M., Alizadeh, B., Ghasemi Tousi, E., Shakerian, M., Maghsoudi, Y. and Rahgozar, P., 2019. How Groundwater Level Fluctuations and Geotechnical Properties Lead to Asymmetric Subsidence: A PSInSAR Analysis of Land Deformation over a Transit Corridor in the Los Angeles Metropolitan Area. *Remote Sensing*, 11(4), p.377.

Kok, S., and A.L. Costa, 2021. Framework for economic cost assessment of land subsidence. Natural Hazards. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-021-04520-3.

Koundouri, P., Roseta-Palma, C. and Englezos, N., 2017. Out of Sight, Not Out of Mind: Developments in Economic Models of Groundwater Management. *International Review of Environmental and Resource Economics*, 11(1), pp.55-96.

Lange, G. and R.M. Hassan. 2006. The economics of water management in Southern Africa: an environmental accounting approach. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Leake, A. S. and Prudic, D. E. (1991). Documentation of a Computer Program to Simulate Aquifer-System Compaction Using the Modular Finite-Difference Groundwater Flow Model. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations. 6.

Lembke, K. E., 1887. Groundwater flow and the theory of water collectors. *The Engineer, Journal of the Ministry of Communications*, 2, pp.17-19.

Lixin, Y., Jie, W., Chuanqing, S., Guo, J., Yanxiang, J., Liu, B., 2010. Land subsidence disaster survey and its economic loss assessment in Tianjin, China. Natural Hazards Review, 11, pp.35–41.

Ljungdahl, J., 2015. Analysis of groundwater level changes and land subsidence in Gothenburg, SW Sweden. Master. University of Gothenburg.

Lofgren, B.E., 1975, Land subsidence due to ground-water withdrawal, Arvin-Maricopa area, California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-D, 55 p.

Mahmoudpour, M., Khamehchiyan, M., Nikudel, M. and Ghassemi, M., 2016. Numerical simulation and prediction of regional land subsidence caused by groundwater exploitation in the southwest plain of Tehran, Iran. *Engineering Geology*, 201, pp.6-28.

Makris, M., 2001. Necessary conditions for infinite-horizon discounted two-stage optimal control problems. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 25(12), pp.1935-1950.

Masiyandima, M., Van der Stoep, I., Mwanasawani, T. and Pfupajena, S. 2002. Groundwater management strategies and their implications on irrigated agriculture: the case of dendron aquifer in northern province, South Africa. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth 27, 935–940.

Merrill N.H. and Guilfoos T. 2017. Optimal groundwater extraction under uncertainty and spatial stock externality. *Americal Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 100(1), 220-238.

Minderhoud, P., Erkens, G., Pham, V., Bui, V., Erban, L., Kooi, H. and Stouthamer, E., 2017. Impacts of 25 years of groundwater extraction on subsidence in the Mekong delta, Vietnam. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(6), p.064006.

Moteahd, F., Moghaddas, N., Lashkaripour, G. and Dehghani, M., 2019. Geological parameters affected land subsidence in Mashhad plain, north-east of Iran. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 78(14).

Murray, E. and Tredoux, G. 2002. Pilot Artificial Recharge Schemes: Testing Sustainable Water Resource Development in Fractured Aquifers: Report to the Water Research Commission. WRC Report no. 967/1, p.02.

National Water Act (NWA), No 36 of 1998 Republic of South Africa.

Oosthuizen, A. and Richardson, S. 2011. Sinkholes and subsidence in South Africa. Council for Geoscience Report number: 2011-0010. Western Cape Unit:Council for Geoscience.

Oricho, G., 1995. Short run irrigation water demand: an empirical evaluation of the role of price, crop and technology choice. Masters. University of Cape Town.

Poland, J. F., 1969, Land subsidence and aquifer-system compaction, Santa Clara Valley, California, USA, in Land Subsidence, v. 1: Internat. Assoc. Sci. Hydrology Pub. 88, p. 285-292.

Poland, J.F., Lofgren, B.E., and Riley, F.S., 1972, Glossary of selected terms useful in studies of the mechanics of aquifer systems and land subsidence due to fluid withdrawal. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2025, 9 p.

Poland, J. F., and Davis, G. H., 1969, Land subsidence due to withdrawal of fluids, in Varnes, D. J., and Kiersch, George, eds., Reviews in Engineering Geology, v. 2: Boulder, Colo., Geol. Soc. America, p. 187-269.

Rackley, S., 2017. Hydrological and environmental features, events, and processes. In: S. Rackley, ed., *Carbon Capture and Storage*, 2nd ed. [online] Butterworth-Heinemann: Elsevier Inc., pp.387-406. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812041-5.00015-5> [Accessed 10 February 2021].

Reddick, J. and Kruger, R., 2019. *Water: Market Intelligence Report 2019*. Cape Town: GreenCape, pp.17-18.

Riley, F.S. 1969. Analysis of borehole extensometer data from central California, in Tison, L.J.. ed., Land subsidence, v. 2: International Association of Scientific Hydrology Publication 89, p. 423-431.

Roumasset, J. and Wada, C., 2013. A dynamic approach to PES pricing and finance for interlinked ecosystem services: Watershed conservation and groundwater management. *Ecological Economics*, 87, pp.24-33.

Saber, M., Abdel-Fattah, M., Kantoush, S. and Sumi, T., 2018. IMPLICATIONS OF LAND SUBSIDENCE DUE TO GROUNDWATER OVER-PUMPING: MONITORING METHODOLOGY USING GRACE DATA. *International Journal of GEOMATE*, 14(41).

Sharma, M., 1986. MEASUREMENT AND PREDICTION OF NATURAL GROUNDWATER RECHARGE -AN OVERVIEW. *Journal of Hydrology (New Zealand)*, [online] 25(1), pp.49-56. Available at: <http://www.jstor.org/stable/43944572> [Accessed 2 February 2021].

Stober, I. and Bucher, K. (2007). Hydraulic properties of the crystalline basement. Hydrogeol J 15, 1643. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-007-0214-9

Shen, S. and Xu, Y., 2011. Numerical evaluation of land subsidence induced by groundwater pumping in Shanghai. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 48(9), pp.1378-1392.

Sneed, M. (2018). *Aquifer Compaction due to Groundwater Pumping*. [online] Usgs.gov. Available at: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/ca-water-ls/science/aquifer-compaction-due- groundwater-pumping? qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects [Accessed 25 Oct. 2019].

Terzaghi, K. 1925. Erdbaumechanik auf bodenphysikalisher Grundlage: Vienna, Austria, Deuticke, 399 p.

Tomiyama, K. 1985. Two-stage optimal control problems and optimality conditions. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 9(3), pp.317-337.

Tomiyama, K. and Rossana, R. 1989. Two-stage optimal control problems with an explicit switch point dependence. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 13(3), pp.319-337.

Tomini, A. (2014). Is the Gisser and Sánchez model too simple to discuss the economic relevance of groundwater management?. *Water Resources and Economics*, 6, pp.18-29.

Tshipala, D., 2018. Conceptualisation of hydrogeological system in the crystalline aquifer of the Hout River Catchment, Limpopo Province. Master. University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

Wade, C., Cobourn, K., Amacher, G. and Hester, E., 2018. Policy Targeting to Reduce Economic Damages From Land Subsidence. *Water Resources Research*, 54(7), pp.4401-4416.

Wade, C., 2016. *Groundwater Pumping Decisions and Land Subsidence in the Southern Chesapeake Bay Region of Virginia*. Master. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.

Walter, T., Kloos, J. and Tsegai, D., 2011. Options for improving water use efficiency under worsening scarcity: Evidence from the Middle Olifants Sub-Basin in South Africa. Water SA, 37(3).

Wang, Y., Wang, Z. and Cheng, W., 2019. A review on land subsidence caused by groundwater withdrawal in Xi?an, China. *Bulletin of Engineering Geology and the Environment*, 78(4), pp.2851-2863.

Warren, J.P., Jones, L.L., Lacewell, R.D. and Griffin, W.L., 1975. External costs of land subsidence in the Huston-Baytown area. *Am. J. Agric. Econ.*, 57(3), 450–455.

Williamson, A.K., Prudic, D. and Swain, L.A. (1989). Ground-Water Flow in the Central Valley, California. United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper; (USA). 1401-D.

Wright, T., Parsons, B. and Lu, Z., 2004. Toward mapping surface deformation in three dimensions using InSAR. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31(1).

Yang, X., Jia, Y., Liu, H. and Shan, H., 2009. Characteristics and causes of the preconsolidation stress of soils in the Yellow River Delta. *Journal of Ocean University of China*, 8(3), pp.215-222.

Yoo, J. and Perrings, C., 2017. An externality of groundwater depletion: land subsidence and residential property prices in Phoenix, Arizona. Journal of Environmental Economics and Policy, 6(2), pp.121–133.

Appendix

Construction of the indirect-damage rate function

Pumping groundwater from aquifers compacts compressible fine-grained sediments within or next to aquifers (Leake and Prudic, 1991, p.1). This is mainly because coarse-grained sediments compaction may be reversed when groundwater is replenished, given the fact that they have no impact on the aquifer's storage capacity (Williamson et al., 1989, p.97). All aquifer systems, according to Holzer and Galloway (2005), compact to some degree in response to a change in groundwater level. Compaction is controlled, in theory, by effective stress (Holzer and Galloway, 2005). As suggested by Terzaghi (1925), effective stress is given by Equation (29) below

$$\delta' = \delta - \mu \tag{29}$$

where δ' , δ , and μ represent the effective stress, the total pressure (geostatic stress), and the pore-fluid pressure (neutral or hydrostatic stress), respectively. Removing groundwater from sediments lowers the pore-fluid pressure within the sediments (Holzer and Galloway, 2005). As a result, the effective stress rises, and the pore space (or pore volume) decreases. This process is referred to by hydrologists as compaction (Poland et al., 1972). The change in effective stress has been shown to be proportional to the amount of compaction (Riley, 1969; Helm 1975; Leake and Prudic, 1991, p.3). The change in effective stress in an unconfined aquifer depends on the change in water table level (Leake and Prudic, 1991, p.3). Thus, we define the change in effective stress for an unconfined aquifer as suggested by Poland and Davis (1969, p.195)

$$\Delta \delta' = -\gamma_w (1 - n + n_w) \Delta H \tag{30}$$

where $\Delta\delta'$, γ_w , *n*, n_w , and ΔH represent the change in effective stress (positive for a rise and negative for a reduction), the unit weight of water (N/m^3) , the porosity (dimensionless), the moisture content of sediments above water table (in the unsaturated zone) as a fraction of total volume (dimensionless), and the change in water table (positive for raising and negative for lowering). Here also, as under the direct LS externality, the only action of the pumper that affects the change in water table is withdrawals (*W*), as the natural recharge and percolation are not determined by the pumper but by some natural phenomenons, ΔH is considered to be negative

throughout. This implies the lowering of the water table due to pumping, which is termed as drawdown D(W). That is, we assume that the pumper is penalized for any of her action (in this case, simply withdrawals) that leads to inelastic compaction. As a result, Equation (30) becomes

$$\Delta \delta' = \gamma_w (1 - n + n_w) D(W). \tag{31}$$

Compaction, on the other hand, occurs whenever there is an increase in the effective stress. However, inelastic (permanent) compaction, which results in the loss of aquifer storage capacity, occurs only when the effective stress exceeds the pre-consolidation stress (Holzer and Galloway, 2005; Lofgren, 1975, p.40). Pre-consolidation stress refers to the highest effective stress that a soil has experienced over its life (Yang et al., 2009). Any rise in effective stress value lower than the pre-consolidation stress causes elastic compaction, in which sediment deformations can be reversed by replenishing the aquifer. When inelastic compaction occurs, pore space is permanently lost and cannot be restored. This means that the aquifer's storage capacity is lost forever. Even if the aquifer's water level is restored throughout, it will not be able to contain the same volume of water as it did before the compaction (Williamson et al., 1989, p.97). When the aquifer experiencing subsidence is replenished and then groundwater levels fall again, significant compaction will not resume until the new pre-consolidation stress is surpassed (Holzer and Galloway, 2005; Leake and Prudic, 1991, p.4). As suggested by Poland (1969, p.288-290), the approximate inelastic compaction Δq (in *m*) is given by Equation (32) below

$$\Delta q = y_{\nu} y \Delta \delta' \tag{32}$$

where y_v and y represent the compacting beds' mean compressibility and the aggregate thickness, respectively. As mentioned earlier, we assume a single-cell aquifer with a non-heterogeneous distribution of impacts and wells. Without loss of generality, we assume that the compacting beds' aggregate thickness is equal to the aquifer's thickness b.

Proof of Proposition (1)

The hamiltonian function of the system (15), (16), (17) is given as follows

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}(t, W_{2}, H_{2}, \lambda_{2}) = -e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_{2}^{2}}{2k} - \frac{gW_{2}}{k} - (C_{0} + C_{1}H_{2})W_{2} - G_{2}W_{2} \right]$$

$$+\lambda_2 \cdot \frac{[R+(\alpha-1)W_2]}{AS}$$
(33)

Where

$$G_2 = (\beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi + \phi \cdot by_v \gamma_w (1 - n + n_w)) \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}).$$
(34)

Hence, the first order conditions are as follows

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial W_2} = -e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_2}{k} - \frac{g}{k} - C_0 - C_1 H_2 - G_2 \right] + \lambda_2 \left[\frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS} \right] = 0.$$
(35)

$$\dot{\lambda}_2 = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}.$$
(36)

$$\dot{H}_2 = \frac{1}{AS} [R + (\alpha - 1)W_2].$$
(37)

The transversality condition is given by $\lim_{t\to\infty} \lambda_2(t) = 0$. From Equation (35), we obtain the value for the costate variable λ_2 as follows.

$$\lambda_2 = \frac{1}{m} e^{-it} [(\frac{1}{k})W_2 - \frac{g}{k} - C_0 - C_1 H_2 - G_2],$$
(38)

where $m = \frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS}$. The derivative of λ_2 with respect to t is given by

$$\dot{\lambda}_2 = \frac{1}{m} e^{-it} \left[-\frac{iW_2}{k} + \frac{ig}{k} + iC_0 + iC_1H_2 + iG_2 - \frac{C_1R}{AS} - C_1mW_2 + \frac{\dot{W}_2}{k} \right].$$
(39)

The derivative of \mathcal{H}_2 with respect to the water table elevation H_2 is given by

$$-\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial H_2} = -C_1 W_2 \mathrm{e}^{-it}.$$
 (40)

From Equation (36), we obtain the following equation.

$$-C_{1}W_{2} = \frac{1}{m}e^{-it}\left[-\frac{iW_{2}}{k} + \frac{ig}{k} + iC_{0} + iC_{1}H_{2} + iG_{2} - \frac{C_{1}R}{AS} - C_{1}mW_{2} + \frac{\dot{W}_{2}}{k}\right].$$
(41)

Solving for \dot{W}_2 in the above equation we get the following equations.

$$\frac{\dot{W}_2}{mk} = \frac{iW_2}{mk} - \frac{ig}{mk} - \frac{iC_0}{m} - \frac{iC_1H_2}{m} - \frac{iG_2}{m} + \frac{C_1R}{mAS} + \frac{C_1mW_2}{m} - C_1W_2$$
(42)

$$\frac{\dot{W}_2}{k} = \frac{iW_2}{k} - \frac{ig}{k} - iC_0 - iC_1H_2 - iG_2 + \frac{C_1R}{AS} + C_1mW_2 - C_1mW_2$$
(43)

$$\dot{W}_2 = iW_2 - ig - iC_0k - iC_1H_2k - kiG_2 + \frac{kC_1R}{AS}$$
(44)

$$\dot{W}_2 = iW_2 - ikC_1H_2 + \left[-ig - ikC_0 - ikG_2 + \frac{C_1kR}{AS}\right].$$
(45)

Likewise, the value for \dot{H}_2 can be rewritten as

$$\dot{H}_2 = \frac{(\alpha - 1)W_2}{AS} + \frac{R}{AS}.$$
(46)

Consequently, we now have to solve the two simultaneous differential equations ((45) and (46)). Thus, by letting $mm = \frac{(\alpha-1)}{AS}$, $uu = ikC_1$, $NN = -ig - ikC_0 - ikG_2 + \frac{C_1kR}{AS}$ and $MM = \frac{R}{AS}$, we get the following system of differential equations.

$$\dot{W}_2 = iW_2 - uu \cdot H_2 + NN. \tag{47}$$

$$\dot{H}_2 = mm \cdot W_2 + MM. \tag{48}$$

Putting the above system of differential equations in a *D* operator format (where $D = \frac{d}{dt}$), and solving for W_2 yields the following second order linear non-homogeneous differential equation.

$$[(D^2 - Di) + uu \cdot mm]W_2 = -uu \cdot MM.$$
⁽⁴⁹⁾

The particular solution of the above differential equation is given by: $-\frac{MM}{mm}$ and the characteristic roots by $x_{1,2} = \frac{i \pm \sqrt{i^2 - 4uumm}}{2}$. Furthermore, the steady state level water table is given by

$$H_2^* = \left[\frac{-i\frac{MM}{mm} + NN}{uu}\right]$$
(50)

Hence, the solution for $W_2^*(t)$ is given by

$$W_2^*(t) = \frac{x_2}{mm} \left[H_T - \frac{NN - i\frac{MM}{mm}}{uu} \right] e^{x_2(t - t_T)} - \frac{MM}{mm}.$$
(51)

Where x_2 is the stable characteristic root. The negative root x_2 is the stable characteristic since we assume that all parameters are non negative, that is H_2^* and W_2^* , the steady state solutions. Likewise, the solution for $H_2^*(t)$ is given by

$$H_2^*(t) = [H_T - \frac{NN - i\frac{MM}{mm}}{uu}]e^{x_2(t - t_T)} + \frac{NN - i\frac{MM}{mm}}{uu}.$$
(52)

Proof of Proposition (4)

We can now solve the first sub-problem since we have the solution (SP_2^*) to the second sub problem. The hamiltonian function of the system (22), (23), (24) is given as follows

$$\mathcal{H}_{1}(t, W_{1}, H_{1}, \lambda_{2}) = -e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_{1}^{2}}{2k} - \frac{gW_{1}}{k} - (C_{0} + C_{1}H_{1})W_{1} - G_{1}W_{1}\right] + \lambda_{1} \cdot \frac{[R + (\alpha - 1)W_{1}]}{AS}$$
(53)

Where

$$G_1 = \beta \cdot \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \frac{1}{2\pi T} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}).$$
(54)

Hence, the first order conditions are as follows

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_1}{\partial W_1} = -e^{-it} \left[\frac{W_1}{k} - \frac{g}{k} - C_0 - C_1 H_1 - G_1 \right] + \lambda_1 \left[\frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS} \right] = 0.$$
(55)

$$\dot{\lambda}_1 = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_1}{\partial H_1}.$$
(56)

$$\dot{H}_1 = \frac{1}{AS} [R + (\alpha - 1)W_1].$$
(57)

The transversality condition is given by $\lim_{t\to\infty}\lambda_1(t) = 0$. From Equation (55), we obtain the value for the costate variable λ_1 as follows.

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{m} e^{-it} [(\frac{1}{k}) W_1 - \frac{g}{k} - C_0 - C_1 H_1 - G_1],$$
(58)

where $m = \frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS}$. The derivative of λ_1 with respect to t is given by

$$\dot{\lambda}_1 = \frac{1}{m} e^{-it} \left[-\frac{iW_1}{k} + \frac{ig}{k} + iC_0 + iC_1H_1 + iG_1 - \frac{C_1R}{AS} - C_1mW_1 + \frac{\dot{W}_1}{k} \right].$$
(59)

The derivative of \mathcal{H}_1 with respect to the water table elevation H_1 is given by

$$-\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_1}{\partial H_1} = -C_1 W_1 \mathrm{e}^{-it}.$$
 (60)

From Equation (56), we obtain the following equation.

$$-C_1W_1 = \frac{1}{m}e^{-it}\left[-\frac{iW_1}{k} + \frac{ig}{k} + iC_0 + iC_1H_1 + iG_1 - \frac{C_1R}{AS} - C_1mW_1\right]$$

$$+\frac{\dot{W}_1}{k}].$$
 (61)

Solving for \dot{W}_1 in the above equation we get the following equations.

$$\frac{\dot{W}_1}{mk} = \frac{iW_1}{mk} - \frac{ig}{mk} - \frac{iC_0}{m} - \frac{iC_1H_1}{m} - \frac{iG_1}{m} + \frac{C_1R}{mAS} + \frac{C_1mW_1}{m} - C_1W_1$$
(62)

$$\frac{\dot{W}_1}{k} = \frac{iW_1}{k} - \frac{ig}{k} - iC_0 - iC_1H_1 - iG_1 + \frac{C_1R}{AS} + C_1mW_1 - C_1mW_1$$
(63)

$$\dot{W}_1 = iW_1 - ig - iC_0k - iC_1H_1k - kiG_1 + \frac{kC_1R}{AS}$$
(64)

$$\dot{W}_1 = iW_1 - ikC_1H_1 + \left[-ig - ikC_0 - ikG_1 + \frac{C_1kR}{AS}\right].$$
(65)

Likewise, the value for \dot{H}_1 can be rewritten as

$$\dot{H}_{1} = \frac{(\alpha - 1)W_{1}}{AS} + \frac{R}{AS}.$$
(66)

Consequently, we now have to solve the two simultaneous differential equations ((65) and (66)). Thus, by letting $m = \frac{(\alpha - 1)}{AS}$, $u = ikC_1$, $N = -ig - ikC_0 - ikG_1 + \frac{C_1kR}{AS}$ and $M = \frac{R}{AS}$, we get the following system of differential equations.

$$\dot{W}_1 = iW_1 - u \cdot H_1 + N. (67)$$

$$\dot{H}_1 = m \cdot W_1 + M. \tag{68}$$

Putting the above system of differential equations in a *D* operator format (where $D = \frac{d}{dt}$), and solving for W_1 yields the following second order linear non-homogeneous differential equation.

$$[(D^2 - Di) + u \cdot m]W_1 = -u \cdot M.$$
(69)

The particular solution of the above differential equation is given by: $-\frac{M}{m}$ and the characteristic roots by $y_{1,2} = \frac{i \pm \sqrt{i^2 - 4um}}{2}$. Furthermore, the steady state level water table is given by

$$H_1^* = \left[\frac{-i\frac{M}{m} + N}{u}\right]$$
(70)

Hence, the solution for $W_1^*(t)$ and $H_1^*(t)$ is given by

$$W_1^*(t) = \tilde{A} e^{y_1 t} + \tilde{B} e^{y_2 t} - \frac{M}{m}.$$
 (71)

$$H_1^*(t) = \frac{m}{y_1} \tilde{A} e^{y_1 t} + \frac{m}{y_2} \tilde{B} e^{y_2 t} + \frac{N - i\frac{M}{m}}{u}.$$
 (72)

Where \tilde{A} and \tilde{B} are obtained by imposing the initial conditions.

$$\tilde{A} = \frac{y_1}{m} \left[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iM}{m}}{u} - \frac{[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iM}{m}}{u}]e^{y_1 t_T} - [H_T - \frac{N - \frac{iM}{m}}{u}]}{e^{y_1 t_T} - e^{y_2 t_T}} \right].$$
(73)

$$\tilde{B} = \frac{y_2}{m} \left[\frac{[H_0 - \frac{N - \frac{iM}{m}}{u}] e^{y_1 t_T} - [H_T - \frac{N - \frac{iM}{m}}{u}]}{e^{y_1 t_T} - e^{y_2 t_T}} \right].$$
(74)

Proof of Proposition (2)

To determine the impact of land sinking on the optimal solutions, we differentiate the expressions for the water table and extractions with respect to the economic cost of land sinking.

$$\frac{\partial W(t)}{\partial \beta} = \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T C_1} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) \cdot \frac{x_2 A S}{\alpha - 1} e^{x_2(t - t_T)}.$$
(75)

We know that $\eta > 0$, b > 0, T > 0, $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 0$, $\psi > 0$, k < 0, $C_1 < 0$, $(\alpha - 1) < 0$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ since an increase in the confining unit material or a compacting sediment induces a reduction in it's volume. If there was no x_2 , the derivative's sign would be positive. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of x_2 . If $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}$, the sign of the derivative is positive.

$$\frac{\partial H(t)}{\partial \beta} = \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T C_1} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) \cdot [e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - 1].$$
(76)

In this case, if there was no $(e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - 1)$, the derivative's sign would be negative. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of $(e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - 1)$. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 1$, the sign of the derivative is negative. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} < 1$, the sign of the derivative is positive.

Proof of Proposition (3)

To determine the impact of the aquifer storage capacity reduction on the optimal solutions, we differentiate the expressions for the water table and extractions with respect to the economic cost of losing the aquifer's storage capacity.

$$\frac{\partial W(t)}{\partial \phi} = b y_{\nu} \gamma_{W} (1 - n + n_{W}) \frac{1}{2\pi T C_{1}} \ln(\frac{r_{i}}{r_{W}}) \cdot \frac{x_{2} A S}{\alpha - 1} e^{x_{2}(t - t_{T})}.$$
(77)

We know that $y_v > 0$, n > 0, $n_w > 0$, b > 0, T > 0, $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 0$, $\gamma_w > 0$, k < 0, $C_1 < 0$, $(\alpha - 1) < 0$, and $\gamma_w(1 - n + n_w)\frac{1}{2\pi T}\ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) > 0$ according to Equation (31). If there was no x_2 , the derivative's sign would be positive. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of x_2 . If $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}$, the sign of the derivative is negative. If $i > \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}$, the sign of the derivative is negative. If $i > \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}$, the sign of the derivative is negative.

$$\frac{\partial H(t)}{\partial \phi} = b y_{\nu} \gamma_{w} (1 - n + n_{w}) \frac{1}{2\pi T C_{1}} \ln(\frac{r_{i}}{r_{w}}) \cdot [e^{x_{2}(t - t_{T})} - 1].$$
(78)

In this case, if there was no $(e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - 1)$, the derivative's sign would be negative. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of $(e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - 1)$. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} > 1$, the sign of the derivative is negative. If $e^{x_2(t-t_T)} < 1$, the sign of the derivative is positive.

Proof of Proposition (5)

To determine the impact of land sinking on the optimal solutions, we differentiate the expressions for the water table and extractions with respect to the economic cost of land sinking.

$$\frac{\partial W(t)}{\partial \beta} = \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T C_1} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) \cdot \frac{(\alpha - 1)y_2}{AS(e^{y_1 t_T} - e^{y_2 t_T})} e^{y_2 t_T + y_2 t}.$$
(79)

We know that $\eta > 0$, b > 0, T > 0, $\psi > 0$, k < 0, $C_1 < 0$, $(\alpha - 1) < 0$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ since an increase in the confining unit material or a compacting sediment induces a reduction in it's volume. If there was no y_2 and $(e^{y_1t_T} - e^{y_2t_T})$, the derivative's sign would be positive. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of y_2 and $(e^{y_1t_T} - e^{y_2t_T})$. If $i < \sqrt{i^2 - \frac{ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}{AS}}$ and $(e^{y_1t_T} < e^{y_2t_T})$, the sign of the derivative is positive, otherwise the sign is negative.

$$\frac{\partial H(t)}{\partial \beta} = \eta \cdot \varepsilon \cdot b \cdot \psi \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi T C_1} \ln(\frac{r_i}{r_w}) \cdot \left[\frac{e^{y_2 t_T + y_2 t} (\alpha - 1)^2}{(AS)^2 (e^{y_1 t_T} - e^{y_2 t_T})} - 1\right].$$
(80)

In this case, if there was no $(e^{y_1t_T} - e^{y_2t_T})$, the derivative's sign would be negative. Therefore, the sign of the derivative depends on the value of $(e^{y_1t_T} - e^{y_2t_T})$. If $e^{y_1t_T} > e^{y_2t_T}$, the sign of the derivative is negative. If $e^{y_1t_T} < e^{y_2t_T}$, the sign of the derivative is positive.

Proof of Proposition (6)

Using equation (18), we determine the value of t_T that satisfies the condition $W^*(t) \leq \widehat{W}(t)$.

$$\frac{x_2AS}{\alpha-1} \left[H_0 - \frac{NN - i\frac{R}{\alpha-1}}{ikC_1}\right] e^{x_2(t-t_T)} - \frac{R}{\alpha-1} \le \widehat{W}$$
(81)

$$\frac{x_2 A S}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N N - i \frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{i k C_1} \right] e^{x_2 (t - t_T)} \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{\alpha - 1}$$
(82)

$$[H_0 - \frac{NN - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}]e^{x_2(t - t_T)} \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2AS}$$
(83)

$$\left[\frac{H_0(\alpha-1)ikC_1 - NN(\alpha-1) - iR}{(\alpha-1)ikC_1}\right] e^{x_2(t-t_T)} \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha-1) + R}{x_2 A S}$$
(84)

$$e^{x_2(t-t_T)} \le \frac{[\widehat{W}(\alpha-1)+R]ikC_1(\alpha-1)}{[H_0(\alpha-1)ikC_1-NN(\alpha-1)-iR]x_2AS}$$
(85)

$$\frac{e^{x_2 t} x_2 AS[H_0(\alpha - 1)ikC_1 - NN(\alpha - 1) - iR]}{[\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R]ikC_1(\alpha - 1)} \le e^{x_2 t_T}$$
(86)

$$\ln\left[\frac{e^{x_2t}x_2AS[H_0(\alpha-1)ikC_1-NN(\alpha-1)-iR]}{[\widehat{W}(\alpha-1)+R]ikC_1(\alpha-1)}\right] \le x_2t_T$$
(87)

$$\frac{1}{x_2} \ln\left[\frac{e^{x_2 t} x_2 AS[H_0(\alpha-1)ikC_1 - NN(\alpha-1) - iR]}{[\widehat{W}(\alpha-1) + R]ikC_1(\alpha-1)}\right] \le t_T$$
(88)

Since t_T is a constant throughout the planning horizon, we choose t = 0 to get the value

$$\frac{1}{x_2} \ln\left[\frac{x_2 AS[H_0(\alpha - 1)ikC_1 - NN(\alpha - 1) - iR]}{[\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R]ikC_1(\alpha - 1)}\right] \le t_T.$$
(89)

Proof of Proposition (7)

When both the economic costs attached to mitigating land subsidence impacts are equal to zero, the optimal path for groundwater extractions is given by

$$W^{\star}(t) = \frac{x_2 A S}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N_0 - i \frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{i k C_1} \right] e^{x_2 t} - \frac{R}{\alpha - 1}, \tag{90}$$

Where $N_0 = \frac{kC_1R}{AS} - ig - ikC_0$. Using equation (90), we determine the value of N_0 that satisfies the condition $W^*(t) \le \widehat{W}(t)$.

$$\frac{x_2 A S}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N_0 - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1} \right] e^{x_2 t} - \frac{R}{\alpha - 1} \le \widehat{W}$$
(91)

$$\frac{x_2 AS}{\alpha - 1} \left[H_0 - \frac{N_0 - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1} \right] e^{x_2 t} \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{\alpha - 1}$$
(92)

$$[H_0 - \frac{N_0 - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}]e^{x_2 t} \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2 AS}$$
(93)

$$[H_0 - \frac{N_0 - i\frac{R}{\alpha - 1}}{ikC_1}] \le \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2 A S} e^{-x_2 t}$$
(94)

$$H_0 - \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2 A S} e^{-x_2 t} \cdot ik C_1 \le N_0 - \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1}$$
(95)

$$H_0 - \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2 A S} e^{-x_2 t} \cdot ik C_1 + \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1} \le N_0$$
(96)

Since N_0 is a constant throughout the planning horizon, we choose t = 0 to get the value

$$H_0 - \frac{\widehat{W}(\alpha - 1) + R}{x_2 A S} \cdot ik C_1 + \frac{iR}{\alpha - 1} \le N_0.$$
(97)